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Recognizing that it is unlikely that the defendants could pay that amount all at once, the 
Court exercises its discretion with respect to the execution of the judgment.  It thus 
orders an initial aggregate deposit of $1,000,000,000, divided among the defendants in 
accordance with their share of liability and reserves the plaintiffs' right to request further 
deposits, if necessary. 

In the Létourneau File, taken in the name of persons who were dependent on nicotine, 
the Court finds the defendants liable for both heads of damage with respect to the same 
four faults.  In spite of such liability, the Court refuses to order the payment of moral 
damages because the evidence does not establish with sufficient accuracy the total 
amount of the claims of the members.   

The faults under the Quebec Charter and the Consumer Protection Act allow for the 
awarding of punitive damages.  The Court sets the base for their calculation at one year's 
before-tax profits of each defendant, this covering both files.  Taking into account the 
particularly unacceptable behaviour of ITL over the Class Period and, to a lesser extent, 
JTM, the Court increases the sums attributed to them above the base amount to arrive at 
an aggregate of $1,310,000,000, divided as follows:  

ITL - $725,000,000, RBH - $460,000,000 and JTM - $125,000,000. 

It is necessary to divide this amount between the two files.  For that, the Court takes 
account of the significantly higher impact of the defendants' faults on the Blais Class 
compared to Létourneau.  It thus attributes 90% of the total to Blais and 10% to the 
Létourneau Class.   

Nevertheless, in light of the size of the award for moral damages in Blais, the Court feels 
obliged to limit punitive damages there to the symbolic amount of $30,000 for each 
defendant.  This represents one dollar for each Canadian death the tobacco industry 
causes in Canada every year, as stated in a 1995 Supreme Court judgment. 

In Létourneau, therefore, the aggregate award for punitive damages, at 10% of the total, 
is $131,000,000.  That will be divided among the defendants as follows: 

ITL - $72,500,000, RBH - $46,000,000 and JTM - $12,500,000 

Since there are nearly one million people in the Létourneau Class, this represents only 
about $130 for each member.  In light of that, and of the fact that there is no 
condemnation for moral damages in this file, the Court refuses distribution of an amount 
to each of the members on the ground that it is not possible or would be too expensive to 
do so.   

Finally, the Court orders the provisional execution of the judgment notwithstanding appeal 
with respect to the initial deposit of one billion dollars of moral damages, plus all punitive 
damages awarded.  The Defendants must deposit these sums in trust with their 
respective attorneys within sixty days of the date of the judgment.  The Court will decide 
how those amounts are to be disbursed at a later hearing. 
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I. THE ACTIONS 

I.A. THE PARTIES AND THE COMMON QUESTIONS 

[1] In the fall of 19981, two motions for authorization to institute a class action were 
served on the Companies as co-defendants, one naming Cécilia Létourneau as the class 
representative (file 06-000070-983: the "Létourneau File" or "Létourneau"2), and the 
other naming Jean-Yves Blais and the Conseil québécois sur le tabac et la santé as the 
representatives (file 06-000076-980: the "Blais File" or "Blais")3.  They were joined for 
proof and hearing both at the authorization stage and on the merits. 

[2] The judgment of February 21, 2005 authorizing these actions (the 
"Authorization Judgment") defined the class members in each file (the "Class 
Members" or "Members").  After closing their evidence at trial, the Plaintiffs moved to 
modify those class descriptions in order that they correspond to the evidence actually 
adduced.  The Court authorized certain amendments and the class definitions as at the 
end of the trial were as follows: 

For the Blais File 

All persons residing in Quebec who satisfy the 
following criteria: 

1) To have smoked, before November 20, 
1998, a minimum of 5 pack/years4 of 
cigarettes made by the defendants (that is 
the equivalent of a minimum of 36,500 
cigarettes, namely any combination of the 
number of cigarettes smoked per day 
multiplied by the number of days of 
consumption insofar as the total is equal or 
greater than 36,500 cigarettes). 

For example, 5 pack/years equals: 

20 cigarettes per day for 5 years (20 X 365 X 
5 = 36,500) or 

25 cigarettes per day for 4 years (25 X 365 X 
4 = 36,500) or 

10 cigarettes per day for 10 years (10 X 365 X 
10 = 36,500) or 

Toutes les personnes résidant au Québec qui 
satisfont aux critères suivants: 

1) Avoir fumé, avant le 20 novembre 1998, 
au minimum 5 paquets/année de cigarettes 
fabriquées par les défenderesses (soit 
l'équivalent d'un minimum de 36 500 
cigarettes, c'est-à-dire toute combinaison du 
nombre de cigarettes fumées par jour 
multiplié par le nombre de jours de 
consommation dans la mesure où le total est 
égal ou supérieur à 36 500 cigarettes). 
Par exemple, 5 paquets/année égale: 

20 cigarettes par jour pendant 5 ans (20 X 
365 X 5 = 36 500) ou 

25 cigarettes par jour pendant 4 ans (25 X 
365 X 4 = 36 500) ou 

10 cigarettes par jour pendant 10 ans (10 X 
365 X 10 = 36 500) ou 

                                                 
1  September 30, 1998 in the Létourneau File and November 20, 1998 in the Blais File.  
2  Schedule "A" to the present judgment provides a glossary of most of the defined terms used in the 

present judgment. 
3  In general, reference to the singular, as in "the action" or "this file", encompasses both files.  
4  A "pack year" is the equivalent of smoking 7,300 cigarettes, as follows: 1 pack of 20 cigarettes a day 

over one year: 365 x 20 = 7,300.  It is also attained by 10 cigarettes a day for two years, two 
cigarettes a day for 10 years etc.  Given Dr. Siemiatycki's Critical Amount of five pack years, this 
equates to having smoked 36,500 cigarettes over a person's lifetime. 
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worries and inconveniences arising after having been diagnosed with one of the diseases 
named in the class description (the "Diseases"). After amendment, it seeks an amount of 
$100,000 for each Member with lung cancer or throat cancer and $30,000 for those with 
emphysema.   

[11] In the Létourneau file, the moral damages are described as an increased risk of 
contracting a fatal disease, reduced life expectancy, social reprobation, loss of self esteem 
and humiliation8.  It seeks an amount of $5,000 for each Member under that head. 

[12] The amounts claimed for punitive damages were originally the same in both 
files: $5,000 a Member.  That claim was amended during final argument to seek a global 
award of between $2,000 and $3,000 a Member, which the Plaintiffs calculate would total 
approximately $3,000,000,000. 

[13] With respect to the manner of proceeding in the present judgment, the Court 
must examine the Common Questions separately for each of the Companies and each of 
the files.  Although there will inevitably be overlap of the factual and, in particular, the 
expert proof, during the Class Period the Companies were acting independently of and, 
indeed, in fierce competition with each other in most aspects of their business.  As a 
result, there must be separate conclusions for each of the Companies on each of the 
Common Questions in each file. 

[14] Organisationally, we provide a glossary of the defined terms in Schedule A to 
this judgment.  As well, we list in the schedules the witnesses according to the party to 
whom their testimony related.  For example, Schedule D identifies the witnesses called by 
any of the parties who testified concerning matters relating to ITL.  Witnesses from the 
Canadian Tobacco Manufacturers Council (the "CTMC") were initially called by the 
Plaintiffs and they are identified in Schedule C as "Non-Party, Non-Government 
Witnesses".  The schedules also list the experts called by each party and, finally, 
reproduce extracts of relevant external documents9. 

I.B. THE ALLEGED BASES OF LIABILITY 

[15] We are in the collective or common phase of these class actions, as opposed to 
analyzing individual cases.  At this class-wide level, the Plaintiffs are claiming only moral 
(compensatory) and punitive (exemplary) damages.   

[16] Moral damages are claimed under either of the Civil Codes in force during the 
Class Period, as well as under the Consumer Protection Act10 (the "CPA") and under the 
Québec Charter of Human Rights and Freedoms11 (the "Quebec Charter).  Faults 
committed prior to January 1, 1994 would be evaluated under the Civil Code of Lower 
Canada, including article 1053, while those committed as of that date would fall under the 
current Civil Code of Quebec, more specifically, under articles 1457 and 1468 and 
                                                 
8  See paragraphs 182-185 of the Amended Introductory Motion of February 24, 2014 in the Létourneau 

File. 
9  For ease of reference, we attempt to set out all relevant legislation in Schedule H, although we 

sometimes reproduce legislation in the text. 

10  RLRQ, c. P-40.1. 
11  RLRQ, c. C-12. 
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the obligation of proving these three elements in the normal fashion, as the case law 
consistently states.  As well, the Companies point out that the case law clearly requires 
that those elements be proven for each member of the class and the Plaintiffs' choice not 
to call any Members as witnesses should lead the Court to make an adverse inference 
against them in that regard. 

[36] As mentioned, since each Company's conduct was, at least in part, unique to it 
and different from that of the others, we must deal with the Common Questions on a 
Company-by-Company basis. 

II. IMPERIAL TOBACCO CANADA LTD.24 

[37] Given that ITL was the largest of the Companies during the Class Period, the 
Court will analyze the case against it first.   

[38] The corporate history of ITL is quite complicated, with the broad lines of it being 
set out in Exhibit 20000.  Through predecessor companies, ITL has done business in 
Canada since 1912.  In 2000, two years after the end of the Class Period, it was 
amalgamated with Imasco Limited (and other companies) under the ITL name, with 
British American Tobacco Inc. ("BAT"), a British corporation, becoming its sole 
shareholder.   

[39] Both directly and through companies over which it had at least de facto control, 
BAT was very much present in ITL's corporate picture during the Class Period, with its 
level of control of ITL's voting shares ranging between 40% and 58% (Exhibit 20000.1).  As 
a result, the Court allowed evidence relating to BAT's possible influence over ITL during 
the Class Period. 

[40] We now turn to the first Common Questions as it relates to ITL. 

II.A. DID ITL MANUFACTURE, MARKET AND SELL A PRODUCT THAT WAS DANGEROUS AND 
HARMFUL TO THE HEALTH OF CONSUMERS? 

[41] What is a "dangerous" product?  One is tempted to say that it would be a 
product that is harmful to the health of consumers, but that would make the second part 
of this question redundant.  In light of the other Common Questions, we shall take it that 
"harmful to the health of consumers" means that it would cause either the Diseases in the 
Blais Class or tobacco dependence in the Létourneau Class.  The latter holding requires us 
to determine if tobacco dependence is dangerous and harmful to the health of 
consumers, a question we answer affirmatively further on in the present judgment25. 

[42] In its Notes, ITL sums up its position on this question as follows: 
292. The evidence overwhelmingly supports the testimony of ITL and BAT  
scientists who told the Court that, throughout the Class Period, they and their 
colleagues engaged in a massive research effort, in the face of an enormous series 

                                                 
24  The witnesses called by any of the parties who testified concerning matters relating to ITL are listed in 

Schedule D to the present judgment and those called by the Plaintiffs who testified concerning non-
company matters are listed in Schedule C.  Schedules E and F apply to JTM and RBH respectively. 

25  See section II.C.1. 
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Q811:  A-   I think, as I... I think I said that earlier, as a company selling a product 
which can cause serious disease, it is our responsibility to work and to do as much 
as we can to try and develop ways and means to reduce the harm of those 
products.  So I believe that that's the company's position at this point in time. 
 
ON JUNE 5, 2012: 
 
Q334:  A-   I would say that none of them (ITL's brands) is safe.  I don't think any 
tobacco product in any form could qualify under the definition of "safe." 

[46] Although she added a number of qualifiers at other points, for example, that 
smoking is a general cause of lung cancer but it cannot be identified as the specific cause 
in any individual case, Mme. Polet's candid statements provide further admissions to the 
effect that ITL did manufacture, market and sell a product that was dangerous and 
harmful to the health of consumers during the Class Period. 

[47] In fact, none of the Companies today denies that smoking is a cause of disease 
in some people, although each steadfastly denies any general statement that it is the 
major cause of any disease, including lung cancer. 

[48] The real questions, therefore, become not whether the Companies sold a 
dangerous and harmful product but, rather, when did each of them learn, or should have 
learned, that its products were dangerous and harmful and what obligations did each 
have to its customers as a result.  These points are covered in the other Common 
Questions. 

[49] Also examined in the other Common Questions is the Companies' argument that 
it is not a fault to sell a dangerous product, provided it does not contain a safety defect.  
A safety defect is described in article 1469 of the Civil Code as being a situation where the 
product "does not afford the safety which a person is normally entitled to expect, particularly by 
reason of a defect in the design or manufacture of the thing, poor preservation or presentation of 
the thing, or the lack of sufficient indications as to the risks and dangers it involves or as to safety 
precautions". 

[50] The Plaintiffs, on the other hand, argue that the special rules set out in articles 
1469 and 1473 shift the burden of proof on this point to the Companies.  While 
confirming this position, article 1473 creates two possible defences, whereby the 
manufacturer must prove:  

a. that the victim knew or could have known of the defect or 

b. that the manufacturer could not have known of it at the time the product 
was manufactured or sold26. 

[51] We must examine both possible defences.  The formulation of the second 
Common Question makes it appropriate to undertake that analysis immediately, though 
we are fully cognizant that we have not as yet been made any finding of fault by the 
Companies.   

                                                 
26  The full text of these articles is set out in other parts of this judgment, as well as in Schedule "H". 
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II.B. DID ITL KNOW, OR WAS IT PRESUMED TO KNOW OF THE RISKS AND DANGERS 
ASSOCIATED WITH THE USE OF ITS PRODUCTS? 

[52] The pertinence of this question flows from the two articles of the Civil Code 
mentioned above.  Article 1469 indicates that a safety defect in a product occurs where it 
does not afford the safety which a person is normally entitled to expect, including by 
reason of a lack of sufficient indications as to the risks and dangers it involves.  
Nevertheless, even where a safety defect exists, the second paragraph of article 1473 
would exculpate the manufacturer if he proves either that the plaintiff knew of it or that 
he, the manufacturer, could not have known of it at the time and that he acted diligently 
once he learned of it.  

[53] Exactly what are the risks and dangers associated with the use of cigarettes for 
the purposes of this Common Question?  The class descriptions answer that.  The 
increased likelihood of contracting one of the Diseases is a risk or danger associated with 
smoking, as admitted by Mme. Polet.  The same can be said for the likelihood of 
becoming dependent on cigarettes in light of the fact that they increase the probability of 
contracting one of the Diseases.27 

[54] As for knowledge of the risks and dangers relating to the Diseases and 
dependence, the evidence indicates that both scientific and public recognition of the risks 
and dangers of dependence came later than for the Diseases.  For example, it was not 
until his 1988 report that the US Surgeon General clearly identified the dependence-
creating dangers of nicotine use, whereas he pointed out the health risks of tobacco 
smoke as early as 1964.  As well, warnings on the cigarette packs began in 1972, but did 
not mention dependence or addiction until 1994.   

II.B.1 THE BLAIS FILE 

II.B.1.a AS OF WHAT DATE DID ITL KNOW OF THE RISKS AND DANGERS? 

[55] In April and May 1958, three BAT scientists made an omnibus tour of the United 
States, with a stop in Montreal, for the purpose, inter alia, of seeking information on "the 
extent to which it is accepted that cigarette smoke 'causes' lung cancer".  Their ten-page report 
on the visit (Exhibit 1398) portrays an essentially unanimous consensus among the 
specialists interviewed to the effect that smoking causes lung cancer: 

CAUSATION OF LUNG CANCER 

With one exception (H.S.N. Greene) the individuals with whom we met believed 
that smoking causes lung cancer if by "causation" we mean any chain of events 
that leads eventually to lung cancer and which involves smoking as an 
indispensable link.  In the USA only Berkson, apparently, is now prepared to doubt 
the statistical evidence and his reasoning is nowhere thought to be sound28. 

                                                 
27  The Plaintiffs characterize "compensation", as discussed later in this judgment, as one of the risks and 

dangers of smoking.  Although the Court disagrees with that characterization, it does agree that 
compensation is a factor that needs to be considered in the present judgment, which we do further on. 

28  At page 3 pdf. 
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alone35, were at all relevant times premised on that hypothesis.  It follows that, since the 
company was going to great lengths to eradicate the dangers, it had to know of them. 

[68] Speaking of research, it should not be overlooked that one of the main research 
projects of the Companies, dating back even to before the Class Period, was the 
development of filters.  Their function is to filter out the tar from the smoke, and it is from 
the tar, as it was famously reported by an eminent British researcher, that people die.36   

[69] Then there is the expert evidence offered by the three Companies as to the date 
at which the public should be held to have known about the risks and dangers37.  Messrs. 
Duch, Flaherty and Lacoursière put that date as falling between 1954 (for Duch) and the 
mid-1960s (for Flaherty).  

[70] Although to a large degree the Court rejects the evidence of Messrs. Flaherty 
and Lacoursière, as explained later, there is no reason not to take account of such an 
admission as it reflects on the Companies' knowledge38.  It is merely common sense to 
say that, advised by scientists and affiliated companies on the subject39, the Companies 
level of knowledge of their products far outpaced that of the general public both in 
substance and in time40.  These experts' evidence leads us to conclude that the 
Companies had full knowledge of the risks and dangers of smoking by the beginning of 
the Class Period. 

[71] The Court acknowledges that little in the preceding refers directly to the 
Diseases of the Blais Class.  For the most part, Dr. Greene and Mr. Gibb speak of 
"disease" in a generic way and the historians are no more specific.  Nevertheless, we do 
not see this as an obstacle to arriving at a conclusion with regard to ITL's knowledge with 
respect to the Diseases.  No one can reasonably doubt that the average tobacco company 
executive at the time would have included lung cancer, throat cancer and emphysema 
among the diseases likely caused by smoking. 

[72] Thus, the Court concludes that at all times during the Class Period ITL knew of 
the risks and dangers of its products causing one of the Diseases.   

[73] This conclusion not only answers the second Common Question in the 
affirmative with respect to ITL, but it also eliminates the second of the possible defences 
offered by article 1473.  Hence, to the extent that ITL is found to have committed the 
fault of selling a product with a safety defect, its only defence would be to prove that the 

                                                 
35  ITL also had essentially unlimited access to the research conducted by BAT in England under a cost-

sharing agreement. 
36  M.A.H. Russell wrote in a June 1976 issue of the British Medical Journal:  "People smoke for nicotine 

but they die from the tar" (Exhibit 121). 
37  Later on in this judgment we show a table indicating the dates at which the various history experts 

opined as to that knowledge. 
38  We do not accept this opinion as being accurate with respect to the knowledge of consumers, as we 

discuss in detail further on. 
39  This applies less to JTM prior to its acquisition by RJRUS. 
40  In Hollis v. Dow Corning Corp ([1995] 4 S.C.R. 634: "Hollis") the Supreme Court comes to a similar 

conclusion with respect to relative level of knowledge, going so far as to qualify the difference in 
favour of the manufacturer as an "enormous informational advantage" at paragraphs 21 and 26. 
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Members knew or could have known of it or could have foreseen the injury41.  We shall 
deal with that aspect next. 

II.B.1.b AS OF WHAT DATE DID THE PUBLIC KNOW? 

[74] Although the knowledge of the public is not directly the subject of Common 
Question Two, it makes sense to consider it now, during the discussion of the defences 
offered by article 147342.  In that light, the proof offers two main avenues for assessing 
this factor: the expert reports of historians and the effect of the warnings placed on 
cigarette packages as of 1972 (the "Warnings")43.   

II.B.1.b.1 THE EXPERTS' OPINIONS: THE DISEASES AND DEPENDENCE 

[75] The Companies filed three expert reports attempting to establish the date that 
the risks and dangers of smoking became "common knowledge" among the public.  ITL 
filed the report of David Flaherty (Exhibit 20063), while JTM offered the opinion of Raymond 
Duch (Exhibit 40062.1) and shared with RBH the report of Jacques Lacoursière (Exhibit 
30028.1)44.  The Plaintiffs offered the historian, Robert Proctor, as an expert and he also 
testified on this issue.   

[76] Mr. Christian Bourque, an expert in surveys and marketing research, testified for 
the Plaintiffs with respect to the information contained in, and the motivation behind, the 
marketing surveys conducted for the Companies.  Although some of what he said touched 
on this issue, his evidence is not conducive to determining a cut-off date for the question 
at hand.  In light of that, the Court will not consider the evidence of Professor Claire 
Durand in this context, since her mandate was essentially to criticize Mr. Bourque's work. 

[77] The following table summarizes the historical experts' opinions as to the dates at 
which the public attained common knowledge of the danger to health and the risk of 
developing tobacco dependence: 

                                                 
41  We note that, even if that hurdle is overcome, there will still remains the general fault under article 

1457 of failing to abide by the rules of conduct which lie upon him, according to the circumstances, 
usage or law, so as not to cause injury to another.  There are also the alleged faults under the CPA and 
the Quebec Charter. 

42  The Companies made proof as to the date at which Canada and other public health authorities knew of 
the risks of smoking.  In light of the Court of Appeal's judgment dismissing the action in warranty 
against Canada, the Court finds no relevance to that question in the current context.  Whether or not 
Canada acted diligently, for example, with respect to imposing the Warnings, does not affect the actual 
level of knowledge of the public. 

43  For the sake of completeness, we should note that, starting in 1968, Health Canada published a series 
of press releases providing "League Tables" showing the tar and nicotine levels in Canadian cigarettes, 
the first press release being filed as Exhibit 20007.1.  No one alleges that this initiative represented a 
significant factor in the public's gaining adequate knowledge of the risks and dangers of smoking. 

44  JTM also filed the reports of Robert Perrins (Exhibits 40346, 40347) with respect to the knowledge of 
the government and the public health community.  For reasons already noted, the Court does not find 
this aspect relevant given the current state of the files. 
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essentially at the same time as that for danger to health, while Professor Flaherty felt it 
came even earlier, and before knowledge related to disease.  Professors Duch and 
Proctor, on the other hand, agreed that knowledge of dependence came much later than 
for danger to health.  This reflects what the public health authorities were saying, as seen 
in the twenty-four-year gap between the two in the US Surgeon General Reports: 1964 
versus 1988. 

[83] Professor Lacoursière opined that during the 1950s it was very unlikely (très peu 
probable) that a person would not have been made aware (n'ait pas eu connaissance) of 
the health dangers of smoking regularly and the risk of dependence attached to it.49  By 
the end of the next decade, 1960-69, his view firmed up to a point where ignorance of 
the danger in both cases was a near impossibility: 

278.  I can affirm, in my role as historian, that it was nearly impossible for a 
person not to know of the dangers to health of regular smoking and the 
dependence that it can cause.  (the Court's translation)50 

[84] Not surprisingly, his opinion on the degree of awareness of the dangers of 
smoking and of possible dependence extant at the end of the following decades solidify to 
the point of it being "impossible" ("il est devenu impossible") not to know by the end of 
the 1970s (at page 69), and incontrovertible ("incontestable") up to the end of the Class 
Period (at pages 90 and 104). 

[85] Both Professors Flaherty and Lacoursière based their opinions exclusively on 
publicly-circulated documents, such as newspapers, magazines, television and radio 
shows, school books and the like.  Neither included the Companies' internal documents in 
their analysis, arguing persuasively that the public could not have been influenced by 
such items, since they were never circulated publicly.   

[86] We can accept that logic, but they were much less persuasive in their 
justification for omitting to consider any of the voluminous marketing material circulated 
by the Companies over the Class Period.  Both of them completely ignored the 
Companies' numerous advertisements appearing in the same newspapers and magazines 
from which they extracted articles and airing on the same television and radio stations 
that especially Professor Lacoursière referred to.  As well, they took no note of billboards, 
signs, posters, sponsorships and the like on the level of public awareness of the dangers 
of smoking and of dependence.   

[87] Professor Lacoursière attempted to justify this omission on his lack of expertise 
in evaluating the effect of advertising on the public.  In cross-examination, however, he 
admitted that advertising can have an effect on public knowledge, noting that the ads 
were quite attractive, "to say the least".51  This indicates that advertising material is 
                                                 
49  154.  En tant qu'historien, à la suite de l'étude des documents analysés, je peux affirmer qu'il est très 

peu probable que quelqu'un n'ait pas eu connaissance de dangers pour la santé du fait de fumer 
régulièrement et de la dépendance que cela peut créer. - Exhibit 30028.1. 

50  Je peux affirmer, en tant qu'historien, qu'il devient presque impossible que quelqu'un n'ait pas 
connaissance des dangers pour la santé du fait de fumer régulièrement et la dépendance que cela peut 
créer. - at page 53 of the report: Exhibit 30028.1. 

51  C'est le moins que je puisse dire: Transcript of May 16, 2013, at page 144. 
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something that should be considered in assessing common knowledge/connaissance 
populaire.  It also indicates that Professor Lacoursière's report is incomplete, since it omits 
elements that have a real impact on his conclusions. 

[88] As for Professor Flaherty, he brushed off this omission by saying that he initially 
intended to include an analysis of marketing material but, after long discussions with 
lawyers for ITL, who, he insisted, imposed no restrictions on him, he concluded that this 
type of communication really didn't have much of an impact on common knowledge.   

[89] Professor Flaherty was remarkably stubborn on the point but seemed eventually 
to concede that there might be some influence, not, however, enough to bother with.  
This is a surprising position indeed, one that not only flies in the face of common sense, 
but also contradicts a view he supported several years earlier.   

[90] In 1988, he sent to ITL what he described as a periodic report relating to 
research that was not specific to the present files (Exhibit 1561).  There, in a section 
entitled "Remaining Research Activities", he wrote: 

8.  We have not done any explicit research on cigarette advertising, although we 
are aware from U. S. materials of significant episodes in advertising.  My intuitive 
sense is that advertising is a component of any person's information environment 
and that it would be unwise not to think about the health claims that have been 
made about smoking since the 1910s, especially in terms of preparation for 
litigation. 

[91] His "intuitive sense" that advertising is a component of any person's information 
environment is, as we note above, only common sense.  The sole explanation he offered 
for the metamorphosis of his reasoning by the time he wrote his report for our files came 
in cross examination on May 23, 2013.  There, he stated that: "I decided, early on, that the 
probative effect of the information content of advertising for Canadian cigarettes that I saw was 
not contributing anything beyond name rank and serial number to the smoking and health 
debate".   

[92] It is difficult to reconcile that view with his statement at page 5 of his report that 
"The only category of material that I have intentionally not reviewed is tobacco advertising, since 
it is outside the scope of my area of expertise to opine on the impact of the messages inherent in 
such advertising".  He should make up his mind.  Did he ignore tobacco advertising 
because it is not important, or was it because it is outside of his expertise?  If the latter, 
why did he not see it the same way in 1988? 

[93] As well, it seems inconsistent, to say the least, that these experts should be so 
chary to opine on the effect of newspaper and magazine ads on people's perception when 
they have absolutely no hesitation with respect to the effect of articles and editorial 
cartoons in the very same newspapers and magazines in which those ads appeared.  
They seem to have been tracing their opinions with a scalpel in order to justify 
sidestepping such an obviously important factor.  In doing so, they not only deprive the 
Court of potentially valuable assistance in its quest to ascertain one of the key facts in the 
case, but they also seriously damage their credibility. 
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public knowledge would have been acquired well before the 1988 change to the 
Warnings.  We favour the end of the 1970s.   

[121] Consequently, the Court holds that the public knew or should have known of the 
risks and dangers of contracting a Disease from smoking as of January 1, 1980, which we 
shall sometimes term the "knowledge date".  It follows that the Companies' fault with 
respect to a possible safety defect by way of a lack of sufficient indications as to the risks 
and dangers of smoking ceased as of that date in the Blais File.   

[122] As for the Létourneau File, the public's knowledge came later.  The Warnings 
were completely silent about dependence until 1994, while the US Surgeon General took 
until 1988 to adopt a firm stand on it.  For their part, Professors Proctor and Duch point to 
the 1980s.  Then there is the Companies' position favouring the adoption of the new 
Warning on addiction of September 1994.   

[123] The Court notes that, as with the Diseases, there is a reasonable level of 
compatibility within the evidence of Professors Duch and Proctor, which also reflects the 
contents of the Warnings.   

[124] To start, of Professor Duch's range of dates, i.e., 1979 and 1986, his view is 
that, by the latter, only "the majority of the population considered smoking to be an 
'addiction'".  A majority is not sufficient on this point.  The "vast majority" is more along 
the lines that the experts, and the Court, favour.   

[125] To reach that level would require a number of additional years.  That being so, 
however, the intense publicity on the issue of dependence around the beginning of the 
1990s was such that knowledge on the topic was being acquired rapidly.  One need only 
consider the 1988 Surgeon General Report and the 1994 addiction Warning.  These are 
key factors, but not dispositive. 

[126] Although Canadians paid much attention to the Surgeon General Reports, the 
Court sees the new Warning on addiction as confirmation that the Quebec public did not 
have sufficient knowledge before its appearance.  This is indirectly supported by 
statements made by the CTMC in its lobbying to avoid such a warning in 1988.  It argued 
that "Calling cigarettes "addictive" trivializes the serious drug problems faced by our society, but 
more importantly (t)he term "addiction" lacks precise medical or scientific meaning64. 

[127] That the Companies recognize the new Warning's importance is telling, but the 
Court puts more importance on the fact that Health Canada did not choose to issue a 
Warning on dependence before it did.  If the government, with all its resources, was not 
sufficiently concerned about the risk of tobacco dependence to require a warning about it, 
then we must assume that the average person was even less concerned.  

[128] That said, even something as visible as a pack warning does not have its full 
effect overnight.   

[129] The addiction Warning was one of eight new Warnings and they only started to 
appear on September 12, 1994.  It would have taken some time for that one message to 

                                                 
64  Exhibit 694, at pdf 10. 
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circulate widely enough to have sufficient force.  The impact of decades of silence and 
mixed messages is not halted on a dime.  The Titanic could not stop at a red light.   

[130] The Court estimates that it would have taken one to two years for the new 
addiction Warning to have sufficient effect among the public, which we shall arbitrate to 
about 18 months, i.e., March 1, 1996.  We sometimes refer to this as the "knowledge 
date" for the Létourneau Class. 

[131] There is support for this date in one of the Plaintiffs' exhibits, a survey entitled 
"Canadians' Attitudes toward Issues Related to Tobacco Use and Control"65.  It was 
conducted in February and March 1996 by Environics Research Group Limited for "a 
coalition" of the Heart and Stroke Foundation of Canada, The Canadian Cancer Society 
and the Lung Foundation.  Although this is a "2M" exhibit, meaning that the veracity of its 
contents is not established, Professor Duch cites it at two places in his report for the 
Companies66.  This should have led to the "2M" being removed and the veracity, along 
with the document's genuineness, being accepted. 

[132] The Environics survey sampled 1260 Canadians, of which some 512 were from 
Quebec.  When they were asked to name, without prompting, the health hazards of 
smoking, "only two percent mention the fundamental hazard of tobacco use which is 
addiction"67.   

[133] Since the Létourneau Class's knowledge date about the risks and dangers of 
becoming tobacco dependent from smoking is March 1, 1996, it follows that the 
Companies' fault with respect to a possible safety defect by way of a lack of sufficient 
indications as to the risks and dangers of smoking ceased as of that date in the 
Létourneau File.   

II.B.2 THE LÉTOURNEA U FILE 

[134] Despite scooping ourselves with respect to this file in the previous paragraph, 
there remain aspects still to be examined in Létourneau, particularly since concern over 
tobacco dependence developed differently from concern over the Diseases.  Nevertheless, 
much of what we say concerning the Blais File is also relevant to Létourneau and we shall 
not repeat that. 

II.B.2.a AS OF WHAT DATE DID ITL KNOW? 

[135] Early in the Class Period, ITL executives were openly discussing "the addictiveness 
of smoking".68  In October 1976, Michel Descôteaux, then Manager of Public Relations and 
later Director of Public Affairs69, prepared a report for ITL's Vice President of Marketing, 
Anthony Kalhok, proposing new policies and strategies for dealing with the increasing 

                                                 
65  Exhibit 1337-2M. 
66  Exhibit 40062.1, at pdf 56 and 160. 
67  Exhibit 1337-2M, at pdf 9. 
68  Exhibit 11 at pdf 5. 
69  Descôteaux was an employee of ITL, and for a few years its parent company, IMASCO, for some 37 

years.  He was the Director of Public Affairs from 1979 until he retired in 2002, overseeing community, 
media and government relations, as well as lobbying.   
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criticism the company was encountering over its products70.  In it, he says the following 
on the subject of dependence:  

A word about addiction.  For some reason, tobacco adversaries have not, as yet, 
paid too much attention to the addictiveness of smoking.  This could become a very 
serious issue if someone attacked us on this front.  We all know how difficult it is to 
quit smoking and I think we could be very vulnerable to such criticism. 

I think we should study this subject in depth, with a view towards developing 
products that would provide the same satisfaction as today's cigarette without 
"enslaving" consumers.71   (emphasis in the original) 

[136] Today, Mr. Descôteaux tries to brush off the contents of this report as the 
product of youthful excess, pointing out that he was only 29 years old at the time.  That 
might well be the case, but that is not the point.  This document shows that the risk of 
creating tobacco dependence was known, accepted and openly discussed within ITL by 
1976.  They all knew how difficult it was to quit smoking, to the point of "enslaving" their 
customers. 

[137] Indeed, some four years earlier, Dr. Green of BAT had characterized as a basic 
assumption that "The tobacco smoking habit is reinforced or dependent upon the psycho-
pharmacological effects mainly of nicotine", as we noted above72.  The basis for that 
assumption must have been present for many years, given that ITL's expert, Professor 
Flaherty, feels that it was common knowledge among the public since the mid-1950s that 
smoking was difficult to quit, and that by that time "the only significant discussion in the 
news media on this point concerned whether smoking constituted an addiction, or whether it was 
a mere habit"73.   

[138] If the public knew of the risk of dependence by the 1950s, the Court feels safe 
in concluding that ITL knew of it at least by the beginning of the Class Period.  We so 
conclude. 

II.B.2.b AS OF WHAT DATE DID THE PUBLIC KNOW? 

[139] As explained above, the Court holds that the public knew or should have known 
of the risks and dangers of becoming tobacco dependent from smoking as of March 1, 
1996 and that the Companies' fault with respect to a possible safety defect ceased as of 
that date in the Létourneau File.   

[140] Let us be clear on the effect of the above findings.  The cessation of possible 
fault with respect to the safety defects of cigarettes has no impact on the Companies' 
possible faults under other provisions, i.e., the general rule of article 1457 of the Civil 
Code, the Quebec Charter or the Consumer Protection Act.  There, a party's knowledge is 
less relevant, an element we consider in section II.G.1 and .2 of the present judgment. 

                                                 
70  Exhibit 11. 
71  At pdf 5. 
72  Exhibit 1395. 
73  Exhibit 20063, at page 4. 
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[147] It is of note that, since 1988, the Surgeon General of the United States has 
abandoned earlier appellations and now applies the term "addiction" exclusively.  That 
position is far from unanimous, however.   

[148] In its flagship diagnostic manual, the DSM74, the American Psychiatric 
Association has never recommended a diagnosis termed as "addiction", this according to 
Dr. Dominique Bourget, one of the Companies' experts.  She filed the latest DSM into the 
Court record (DSM-5: Exhibit 40499) and testified that the DSM is extensively used in Canada.  
With the publication of DSM-5 in 2013, "dependence", the term of choice in previous DSM 
iterations, was abandoned in favour of "disorder".  Thus, the cigarette addiction of the 
Surgeon General is now the "tobacco use disorder" of the APA.   

[149] In spite of this terminological turbulence, the Court sees little significance to the 
specific word used.  What is important is the reality that, for the great majority of people, 
smoking will be difficult to stop because of the pharmacological effect of nicotine on the 
brain.  That which we call a rose by any other name would still have thorns. 

[150] In that light, the Court will simply follow the lead of Common Question C and, 
unless the context requires otherwise, opt for the term "dependence" or "tobacco 
dependence". 

II.C.1 IS TOBACCO A PRODUCT THAT CREATES DEPENDENCE OF THE SORT THAT CAN 
GENERA TE LEGAL LIABILITY FOR THE MANUFACTURER? 

[151] The Plaintiffs take this as a given, but the Companies went to great lengths to 
contest the point.  They called two experts in support of a view that seems to say that 
nicotine is no more dependence creating than many other socially acceptable activities, 
such as eating chocolate, drinking coffee or shopping.   

[152] Plaintiff's expert, Dr. Juan Carlos Negrete, is a medical doctor and psychiatrist 
specializing in the treatment of and research on addiction.  He has some 45 years of 
clinical experience in psychiatry, along with a teaching position in the Department of 
Psychiatry of McGill University since 1967.  Currently, he is serving as a senior consultant 
in the Addictions Unit of the Montreal General Hospital, a service that he founded in 1980, 
and as "Honorary Staff" at the Centre for Addictions and Mental Health in Toronto.   

[153] Although concentrating on alcohol dependence during much of his career, he 
indicates at the end of his 71-page CV that he has been acting as the "Seminar Leader for 
the McGill Post-Graduate Course in Psychiatry: Tobacco dependence" since March 2013.  
He explains that he has offered this seminar for several years but that since 2013 it has 
been focused solely on tobacco dependence.   

[154] He testified that there is often "co-morbidity" present in an addicted person, so 
that, for example, alcohol addiction is generally accompanied by tobacco dependence.  As 
a result, he often deals with both addictions in the same patient.  That said, in cross 
examination he stated that he has treated several hundred patients for tobacco 

                                                 
74  Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders.  In the Preface to DSM-5, it is described as "a 

classification of mental disorders with associated criteria designed to facilitate more reliable diagnoses 
of these disorders": Exhibit 40499, page xii (41 PDF). 
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Rothmans as the exception88.  They plead that the public was receiving sufficient 
information from other sources: by the schools, parents, doctors and the Warnings. 

[186] We cite above extracts from Mr. Descôteaux's 1976 memo to Mr. Kalhok (Exhibit 
11), which underscores the fact that "the addictiveness of smoking" was still below the radar 
even of tobacco adversaries.  Hence, ITL knew not only that its products were 
dependence creating but also knew that through a good portion of the Class Period the 
anti-smoking movement, much less the general public, was not focusing on that danger.   

[187] In light of the above, no more need be said on this question.  ITL did knowingly 
market a dependence-creating product, and still does, for that matter.  As with the 
previous Common Questions, whether or not this constitutes a fault depends on additional 
elements, ones that are examined below. 

II.C.3 DID ITL CHOOSE TOBACCO THAT CONTAINED HIGHER LEVELS OF NICOTINE IN 
ORDER TO KEEP ITS CUSTOMERS DEPENDENT? 

[188] To answer this, it is necessary to examine the role and effect of the research 
done at Canada's Delhi Research Station ("Delhi") in Delhi, Ontario starting in the late 
1960s89.  As described in a 1976 newspaper interview by Dr. Frank Marks, Delhi's Director 
General at the time, Delhi's role was to "(help) growers to produce the best crop possible for 
the most economic input expenditures to maintain a good net profit - and in addition - the type of 
tobacco most acceptable from a health viewpoint and for consumer acceptance"90. 

[189] One of the principal projects undertaken at Delhi was the creation of new strains 
of tobacco containing higher nicotine than previous strains ("Delhi Tobacco")91.  This 
project was successful to the point that by 1983 essentially all the tobacco used in 
commercial cigarettes in Canada was Delhi Tobacco (Exhibit 20235).  This was due in part, 
no doubt, to pressure by Canada on the Companies to buy their tobacco from Canadian 
farmers. 92 

[190] The Plaintiffs allege that the Companies controlled the research priorities at 
Delhi to the point of being able to dictate what type of projects would be carried out.  
Thus, they see the work done to develop higher-nicotine tobacco as a plot to assist the 
Companies in their quest to ensure and increase tobacco dependence among the 
populace.   

[191] With respect, neither the documentary evidence nor the testimony at trial bear 
that out. 

[192] Dr. Marks testified directly on this point: 

196Q-Did the cigarette manufacturing companies ask Delhi to design and develop 
the higher nicotine strains?  

                                                 
88  See Exhibits 536 and 536A. 
89  Delhi was jointly funded by Health Canada and Agriculture Canada. 
90  Exhibit 20784. 
91  Canada holds the patents to the various strains of Delhi Tobacco and earns royalties from their use by 

the Companies.  The Court does not consider this fact to be of any relevance to these cases. 
92  It is relevant to note that Delhi Tobacco gave a significantly higher yield per acre than previous strains, 

an important consideration for tobacco growers, AgCanada's main "clients". 



500-06-000076-980  PAGE: 51 
500-06-000070-983 
 

 

A- No, they did not.  

197Q-Where did the idea come from?  

A- Part of the LHC Program and knowing... us knowing that the filtration process 
was going to be taking out a certain amount of the tar and, also, nicotine at the 
same time.  So that was the impetus for going to a higher... higher nicotine type 
tobacco, so that when they did filter out tar, there would still be enough nicotine 
left for the smoker to get some satisfaction from it.93 

[193] This explanation is consistent with the flow of evidence about Canada's 
approach to reducing the impact of smoking on Canadians' health in the 1970s and 
1980s: "If you can't quit smoking, then smoke lower tar cigarettes".   

[194] Rather than pointing to the Companies, the proof indicates that Canada was the 
main supporter of higher nicotine tobacco in its campaign to develop a less hazardous 
cigarette, i.e., one with a higher nicotine/tar ratio.94  Health Canada assumed that by 
increasing the amount of nicotine inhaled "per puff", smokers could satisfy their nicotine 
needs with less smoking.  It saw this as a way of developing a "less hazardous" cigarette, 
and even hoped to use the Companies' advertising as a means of promoting such 
products.95 

[195] The problem was that the levels of tar and nicotine in tobacco follow each other.  
A reduction of, say, 20% in the tar will generally result in about a 20% reduction in the 
nicotine, which can leave the smoker "unsatisfied".  Canada saw higher nicotine tobaccos 
as a way to preserve a sufficient level of nicotine after reducing the tar.  In fact, this 
appears to have been something of a worldwide movement96.   

[196] It is true that the Companies favoured this approach, but there is no indication 
that they were the ones driving the Delhi bus in this direction97.  In fact, it could be 
argued that higher nicotine cigarettes would permit a smoker to satisfy his nicotine needs 
with fewer cigarettes a day, thus reducing cigarette sales.   

[197] On another point, the Plaintiffs argue at paragraph 585 of their Notes that "ITL 
had the ability to create a non addictive cigarette but instead chose to work to maintain or 
increase the addictive nature of its cigarettes".  The submission is that the Companies did this 
in order to hook their customers on nicotine to the greatest extent possible so as to 
protect their market.  Here again, the evidence fails to substantiate the allegation. 

                                                 
93  Transcript of December 3, 2013, at page 64. 
94  Anecdotally, it is interesting to note that certain years' crops of Delhi Tobacco were so high in nicotine 

that it made the taste unacceptable.  As a result, ITL imported low-nicotine tobacco from China to be 
blended with the Delhi Tobacco in order to produce cigarettes acceptable to smokers. 

95  See Exhibits 20076.13, at page 2 and 20119, at page 3. 
96  A useful analysis of the "high-nicotine tobacco movement" is found in a 1978 memo of Mr. Crawford of 

Macdonald Tobacco Inc. to Mr. Shropshire: Exhibit 647. 
97  The Companies, on the other hand, certainly did cooperate.  For example, Health Canada requested 

assistance from them in conducting smoker acceptance testing of the new tobaccos, and their 
cooperation in this regard was essential to the success of Delhi Tobacco.   
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[198] Although it is technically possible to produce a non-addictive cigarette98, the 
evidence was unanimous in confirming that consumers would never choose it over a 
regular cigarette.   

[199] Nicotine-free cigarettes were tested by several companies and consumer 
reaction confirmed their lack of commercial acceptance.  They tasted bad and gave no 
"satisfaction".  Even neutral government employees working at Delhi confirmed that.  
Furthermore, no evidence was adduced that such a cigarette would have any less tar than 
a regular cigarette.   

[200] In light of the above, the present question loses its relevance.  Accepting that 
they did choose tobacco with higher levels of nicotine, the Companies were in a very 
practical way forced to do so by Health Canada.  Moreover, in the context of the time, far 
from being a nefarious gesture, this could actually be seen as a positive one with respect 
to smokers' health.   

[201] Thus, by using tobacco containing higher levels of nicotine, ITL was neither 
attempting to keep its customers dependent nor committing a fault.  This finding does 
not, however, negate possible faults with respect to the obligation to inform smokers of 
the dependence-creating properties of tobacco of which it was aware. 

II.D. DID ITL TRIVIALIZE OR DENY OR EMPLOY A SYSTEMATIC POLICY OF NON-
DIVULGATION OF SUCH RISKS AND DANGERS? 

[202] Since Common Question "E" deals with marketing activities, the Court will limit 
its analysis in the present chapter to ITL's actions outside of the marketing field.  This 
covers two rather broad areas: what ITL said publicly about the risks and dangers of 
smoking and what it did not say. 

[203] In order to weigh these factors, it is necessary to understand what the 
Companies should have been saying.  This requires a review of the nature and degree of 
the obligations on them to divulge what they knew, taking into account that the standards 
in force might have varied over the term of the Class Period.  We shall thus consider the 
"obligation to inform"99. 

[204] Thereafter, we shall consider what the public knew, or could have known, about 
the dangers of smoking.  It is also relevant to examine what ITL knew, or at least thought 
it knew, about what the public knew, for a party's obligation to inform can vary in 
accordance with the degree to which information is lacking.  This analysis will apply to 
both files unless otherwise indicated. 

[205] Before going there, however, we must, unfortunately, make several comments 
concerning the credibility of certain witnesses. 

                                                 
98  Such a product would have little or no nicotine, presumably being made from the mild leaves from the 

very bottom of the tobacco plant, versus those from higher up the stalk.   
99  We treat this term as being synonymous with "duty to warn". 
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II.D.1 CREDIBILITY ISSUES 

[206] The Court could not help but have an uneasy feeling about parts of the 
testimony of many of the witnesses who had been associated with ITL during the Class 
Period, particularly those who occupied high-level positions in management.  Listening to 
them, one would conclude that there was very little concern within the company over the 
smoking and health debate raging in society at the time.   

[207] Witness after witness indicated that issues such as whether smoking caused 
lung cancer or whether possible legal liability loomed over the company because of the 
toxicity of its products or whether the company should do more to warn about the 
dangers of smoking were almost never discussed at any level, not even over the water 
cooler.  It went to the point of having ITL's in-house counsel, a member of the high-level 
Management Committee, confirm that he did not "specifically recall" if in that committee 
there had ever even been a discussion about the risks of smoking or whether smoking 
was dangerous to the health of consumers100. 

[208] How can that be?  It is not as if these people were not aware of the maelstrom 
over health issues raging at the company's door.  They should have been obsessed with it 
and its potentially disastrous consequences for the company's future prosperity - and 
even its continued existence.  But one takes from their testimony that it was basically a 
non-issue within the marketing department and the Management Committee. 

[209] If that is so, how can one explain ITL's embracing corporate policies and goals 
designed to respond to such health concerns, as it says it did?  The company adopted as 
its working hypothesis that smoking caused disease, and it devoted a significant portion 
of its research budget to developing ways and means to reduce health risks, such as 
filters, special papers, ventilation, low tar and nicotine cigarettes and, through "Project 
Day", a "safer cigarette"? 

[210] Make no mistake.  There can be no question here of managerial incompetence.  
These are impressive men, each having decades of relevant experience in high positions 
in major corporations, including ITL.  There must be another explanation.   

[211] Might it be that the corporate policy at the time not to comment publicly on 
smoking and health issues carried over even to discussing them internally?  This would be 
consistent with the BAT group's sensitivity towards "legal considerations".101 

[212] One example of that sensitivity was provided by Jean-Louis Mercier, a former 
president of ITL.  He testified that BAT's lawyers frowned on ITL performing scientific 
research to verify the health risks of smoking because that might be portrayed in lawsuits 
as an admission that it knew or suspected that such risks were present.  Another example 
comes from BAT's head of research, Dr. Green, who confided to ITL's head of research in 

                                                 
100  See the transcript of April 2, 2012, at pages 86 and 157.  This 73-year-old witness professed to have a 

faulty memory, but he repeatedly demonstrated exact recall in responses that appeared to favour ITL's 
position. 

101  See Exhibit 29 at pdf 8 cited at paragraph 61 of the present judgment. 
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are dangerous, but that they are also useless and, moreover, that there exists a principle 
of civil law forbidding the production and marketing of useless products that are 
dangerous. 

[225] Although the Companies now admit that cigarettes are dangerous, the proof 
does not unconditionally support their uselessness.  Even the Plaintiffs' expert on 
dependence, Dr. Negrete, admits that nicotine has certain beneficial aspects, for example, 
in aiding concentration and relaxation112.   

[226] In any event, the Court finds no support in the case law and doctrine for a 
principle of civil law similar to the one that the Plaintiffs wish to invoke.  In Quebec, the 
first paragraph of article 1473 makes it possible to avoid liability for a dangerous product, 
even one of questionable use or social value, by providing sufficient warning to its users.  
The rule is similar in the common law113. 

[227] Our review of the case law and doctrine applicable in Quebec leads us to the 
following conclusions as to the scope of a manufacturer's duty to warn in the context of 
article 1468 and following: 

a. The duty to warn "serves to correct the knowledge imbalance between 
manufacturers and consumers by alerting consumers to any dangers and allowing 
them to make informed decisions concerning the safe use of the product"114; 

b. A manufacturer knows or is presumed to know the risks and dangers 
created by its product, as well as any manufacturing defects from which it 
may suffer;115 

c. The manufacturer is presumed to know more about the risks of using its 
products than is the consumer;116 

d. The consumer relies on the manufacturer for information about safety 
defects;117 

e. It is not enough for a manufacturer to respect regulations governing 
information in the case of a dangerous product;118 

f. The intensity of the duty to inform varies according to the circumstances, 
the nature of the product and the level of knowledge of the purchaser and 
the degree of danger in a product's use; the graver the danger the higher 
the duty to inform;119 

                                                 
112  See Exhibit 1470.1, at page 3. 
113  Hollis, op. cit., Note 40, at page 658, citing Buchan v. Ortho Pharmaceutical Canada Ltd., (1986) 32 

D.L.R. 285 (Ont. C.A.) ("Buchan") at page 381, speaking of drug manufacturers. 
114  Hollis, op. cit., Note 40, at page 653. 
115 Banque de Montréal v. Bail Ltée, [1992] 2 SCR 554 ("Bail"), at p. 587. 
116  Lambert, op. cit., Note 104, at pages 574-575). 
117 Bail, op. cit., Note 115, at page 587. 
118  Jean-Louis BAUDOUIN, Patrice DESLAURIERS and Benoît MOORE, La responsabilité civile, 8ème éd., op. 

cit., Note 62, at paragraph 2-354. 
119  Jean-Louis BAUDOUIN, Patrice DESLAURIERS and Benoît MOORE, La responsabilité civile, 8ème éd., op. 

cit., Note 62, at paragraph 2-354; Buchan, at page 30; Hollis, op. cit., Note 40, at page 654. 
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